
City of Mission 
Regular Meeting Agenda 

Wednesday, August 20, 2014 
7:00 p.m. 

Mission City Hall, 6090 Woodson 
 

If you require any accommodations (i.e. qualified interpreter, large print, reader, hearing assistance) in              
order to attend this meeting, please notify the Administrative Office at 913-676-8350 no later than 24                
hours prior to the beginning of the meeting. 

 
CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 

● Vacation of Right-of-Way/Easement, 5801 Johnson Drive 
 

1.  SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 
 
2.  ISSUANCE OF NOTES AND BONDS 
 
3.  CONSENT AGENDA 
 
NOTE:  Information on consent agenda items has been provided to the Governing Body.             
 These items are determined to be routine enough to be acted on in a single motion;                
however, this does not preclude discussion.  If a councilmember requests, an item may             
be removed from the consent agenda for further consideration and separate           
motion. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA - GENERAL 
 

3a.   Minutes of the July 16, 2014 City Council Meeting and August 6, 2014 Special  
City Council Meeting 

  
CONSENT AGENDA - Finance & Administration Committee 
 Finance & Administration Committee Meeting Packet 8-6-14 

Finance & Administration Committee Meeting Minutes 8-6-14 
 

3b. Resolution Adopting Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan  
3c. Selection of Voting Delegates for LKM Annual Conference 
3d. Consolidated Fire District No. 2 Street Solicitation Application 
3e. Temporary CMB License - Arts & Eats Festival, Johnny’s BBQ 
 
CONSENT AGENDA - Community Development Committee 

Community Development Committee Meeting Packet 8-6-14  
Community Development Committee Meeting Minutes 8-6-14  

 
3f. Vacation of Right-of-Way/Easement, 5801 Johnson Drive 
3g. Contract for Plan Review and Inspection Services for Cornerstone Commons 

Public Improvements, Olsson Associates 
3h. Acceptance of Public Improvements, Mission Crossing 
 
 

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fmissionks.org%2Fdocview.aspx%3Fdoctype%3Dminute%26docid%3D4248&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEO1i25TkL3FRp4zBj4X-MZq47pUQ
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fmissionks.org%2Fdocview.aspx%3Fdoctype%3Dminute%26docid%3D4248&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEO1i25TkL3FRp4zBj4X-MZq47pUQ
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fmissionks.org%2Fdocview.aspx%3Fdoctype%3Dminute%26docid%3D4248&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEO1i25TkL3FRp4zBj4X-MZq47pUQ
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fmissionks.org%2Fdocview.aspx%3Fdoctype%3Dminute%26docid%3D4413&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNGzksLbcrfELhVmnUv2Yan1_gqelg
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fmissionks.org%2Fdocview.aspx%3Fdoctype%3Dminute%26docid%3D4413&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNGzksLbcrfELhVmnUv2Yan1_gqelg
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fmissionks.org%2Fdocview.aspx%3Fdoctype%3Dpacket%26docid%3D4411&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHXIuFOIWn4Z952PCjZIiHzNP0FPw
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fmissionks.org%2Fdocview.aspx%3Fdoctype%3Dminute%26docid%3D4411&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEluuavRH7lXtLRVs6ejUTnnqzAhQ
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fmissionks.org%2Fdocview.aspx%3Fdoctype%3Dpacket%26docid%3D4412&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHO3K1OZrf3zAU0lHK1f-qNvEiMGw
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fmissionks.org%2Fdocview.aspx%3Fdoctype%3Dminute%26docid%3D4412&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEyPrIV-O8eXR8hcf4pNyRgqCwqLw


COMMUNITY COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
We have included available minutes for each Community Committee in your packets.  If             
you have questions about these committees, you may bring them up under New Business. 

 
Mission Convention & Visitors Bureau 

Mission Arts Council 
Mission Tree Board 

Sustainability Commission 
Parks and Recreation Commission 

 

4.  PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
5.  ACTION ITEMS 
 

Planning Commission 
 

5a. Final Plat, 6005, 6025, 6045 Martway Street 
 

Miscellaneous 
 
6.  COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
Finance & Administration, Amy Miller 
 Finance & Administration Committee Meeting Packet 8-6-14 

Finance & Administration Committee Meeting Minutes 8-6-14 
 
6a. 2015 Budget Resolution 
6b. 2015 Budget - Rock Creek Drainage District No. 1 
6c. 2015 Budget - Rock Creek Drainage District No. 2 
6d. Resolution Adopting 2015-2019 CIP 
 
Community Development, Steven Lucas 

Community Development Committee Meeting Packet 8-6-14 
Community Development Committee Meeting Minutes 8-6-14 

 
6e. Approval of Johnson Drive Streetlights 
6f. Grant Application for Turkey Creek Trail Design (Planning Sustainable Places Grant) 
 
7.  UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
8.  NEW BUSINESS 
 
9.  MAYOR'S REPORT 

Appointments 
 
10.  CITY ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fmissionks.org%2Fdocview.aspx%3Fdoctype%3Dpacket%26docid%3D4411&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHXIuFOIWn4Z952PCjZIiHzNP0FPw
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fmissionks.org%2Fdocview.aspx%3Fdoctype%3Dminute%26docid%3D4411&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEluuavRH7lXtLRVs6ejUTnnqzAhQ
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fmissionks.org%2Fdocview.aspx%3Fdoctype%3Dpacket%26docid%3D4412&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHO3K1OZrf3zAU0lHK1f-qNvEiMGw
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fmissionks.org%2Fdocview.aspx%3Fdoctype%3Dminute%26docid%3D4412&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEyPrIV-O8eXR8hcf4pNyRgqCwqLw


 

MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

JULY 28, 2014 

DRAFT 
 

 

The regular meeting of the Mission Planning Commission was called to order by Chair Mike 

Lee at 7:00 PM Monday, July 28th, 2014.  Members also present: Jim Brown, Stuart Braden, 

Carla Mills, Brad Davidson, Charlie Troppito and Robert Simpson.  Also in attendance: City 

Planner Danielle Murray and Planning Commission Secretary Nakeisha Cooper. Scott 

Babcock and Robin Dukelow were absent.  

 APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM THE JUNE 23RD, 2014 MEETING 

 Mr. Braden  moved and Mr. Simpson seconded a motion to approve the minutes of the 

June 23rd meeting. The vote was taken (7-0-0). The motion carried. 

 

CASE#14-08 PRELIMINARY AND FINAL PLAT- MARTWAY OFFICE BUILDINGS 

PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Ms. Murray presented the staff report. 

At this time the applicant is requesting approval of a three lot plat in order to divide the 

currently unplatted property into separate lots in accordance with their existing building 

footprints. The existing buildings will remain. Portions of the lots and buildings are currently 

within the Rock Creek floodplain subject to inundation by the 1-percent-annual-chance 

flood event (100 year flood). The City has previously studied this portion of the Rock Creek 

channel for possible future improvements to reduce the flood zone. The preliminary 

engineering study (PES) from Black and Veatch, the city’s stormwater engineering 

consultant, indicates that there is sufficient land from the northern top of channel to the 

south to accommodate the range of construction options studied. No additional land 

outside the channel is needed at this time, however an access along the north bank will be 

provided in the form of a drainage easement. 

 

Because the final plat will include dedication of land for public purposes in the form of Tract 

A, the City Council is required to approve the final plat. The decision of the Planning 

Commission 

to approve or deny the proposed preliminary plat shall be final. 

 

Scott Confer the representative for Shafer, Kline & Warren came forth and stated that the 

Property Owner is in agreement with all of the City’s stipulations. 

 

Mr. Lee opened the Public Hearing for comments.  Receiving none, he then closed it. 

 

Mr. Brown asked Mr. Confer for clarification of the note located on Lot 2 of the final Plat. 

 

1 



 

MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

JULY 28, 2014 

DRAFT 
 

 

 

 

 

 Mr. Troppito moved and Mr. Braden seconded a motion that the Planning Commission 

approve the preliminary plat and recommend approval of the final plat to the City Council for 

Case #14-08 the plat of land to be known as “Martway Office Buildings”. 

The vote was taken, (7-0-0). The motion carried. 

CASE#14-07 CORNERSTONE COMMONS FINAL SITE PLAN 

CONSIDERATION OF REVISIONS AS REQUIRED BY PRIOR APPROVAL 

AND PRIVATE SIGN CRITERIA 

 

Ms. Murray presented the staff report. 

 

The applicant is requesting approval to replace the Keystone Auto dealership building and 

parking lot, which are now being used under a SUP to store cars being sold in Overland 

Park, with a new retail/mixed use development of approximately 31,120 square feet when 

fully built out. Under consideration at this meeting are the revisions which were required and 

the private sign criteria.  Staff stated that the application has made a good faith effort to fulfill 

all of the conditions and that only two minor issues remain. 

 

Dave Olson with Christie Development came forth and stated that they have worked to 

incorporate the elements that were discussed with the Commission at the previous meeting. 

Mr. Olson stated that there was a concern with concealing the stairs located on the property 

and they believe that they were able to do so by stretching the building by 3 feet.  

Mr. Olson stated that it will also improve the mid-rise percentage of the building by 600 Sq. Ft. 

 

Mr. Olson asked that the Commission accept the changes concerning the stipulation for the 

stairs as an acceptable solution.Mr.Olson also explained that the signage criteria was 

important to the Developer as well. The goal is to gain visibility from Martway Street. It is a 

very important and strategic identification sign. The sign has been incorporated into the 

amenities with the site. 

 

Ms Murray indicated that stretching the footprint is an acceptable solution. 

 

Mr. Simpson asked how stretching the building hides the staircase. 

 

Mr. Christie replied that in stretching the building 3 feet a section of the building slides forward. 

 

The Commission discussed setbacks for the monument signs. 

2 



 

MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

JULY 28, 2014 

DRAFT 
 

 

 

Mr. Davidson asked if the pedestrian lights along Johnson Drive would match the color of 

those used further east.  He also stated that was his preference. 

 

Ms. Murray explained that the details for the lighting fixtures would be specified on the 

infrastructure plan set that will be submitted at construction, and the City does intend for them 

to match in color. 

 

Mr. Davidson also asked what base material was used for the 3 raised beds with grass 

located in the front of the store. 

 

Mr. Christie replied that all of the retaining and screened walls will be a cast in place concrete 

with a form liner, the planting beds will be the same, a cast in place concrete. 

 

Mr. Braden moved and Mr. Simpson seconded a to approve the site plan as submitted               

with the condition that the remaining two items as noted by staff be resolved prior to the                 

issuance of a building permit. This includes: 

 

1) For clarity, revise the landscape plan sheet to include the planting beds shown along the                
north and east elevations of buildings on lots 2 and 3 as shown on SD1, SD4, and SD7-8.                  
This can be submitted with the building plan set for review by staff.  
 
2) Ensure that the stair landing and related support structure are hidden from street view               
along the east elevation of the mid-rise building. The method for accomplishing this can be               
submitted with the building plan set for review by staff when the final floor plan is developed.                 
An aesthetically pleasing treatment of this feature may also be acceptable if it remains in               
view. Stretching the building an additional 3’ is an acceptable method of doing this. All sheets                
should be revised as necessary to reflect the change made. 
 

The vote was taken, (7-0-0). The motion carried.  

 

Mr. Troppito moved and Mr. Simpson seconded a motion that we accept the private sign               

criteria as submitted. 

 

The vote was taken, (7-0-0). The motion carried. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 

  

With no other agenda items, Mr. Braden moved and Mr. Tropitto  seconded a motion to 

adjourn.  The vote was unanimous.  The motion carried. The meeting adjourned at 7:46 

P.M. 

 ___________________________________ 

3 



 

MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

JULY 28, 2014 

DRAFT 
 

 

Mike Lee, Chair 

 ATTEST:   
  

_______________________________  

Nakeisha Cooper 

Planning Commission Secretary 

4 



 

City of Mission Item Number: 5a. 

ACTION ITEM SUMMARY Date: August 20, 2014 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DEPARTMENT 

From: Danielle Murray 

Action items require a vote to recommend the item to full City Council for further action. 

 

RE: Final Plat of Martway Office Buildings 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval of this application. 
 
DETAILS:  
 
The applicant, Shafer, Kline & Warren, Inc, is requesting approval of a three lot plat so that 
the current property owner can market and potentially sell each existing building in the future. 
No changes to the existing buildings are proposed at this time.  
 
Because the final plat will include dedication of a Tract of land to the City and a drainage 
easement, the City Council is required to review the plat.  
 
The Planning Commission, at their July 28, 2014 meeting, voted 7-0 to recommend approval 
of the final plat for the subdivision of land to be known as “Martway Office Buildings” to the 
City Council with no conditions. 
 
 
 
 
Motion: 
 
I move that the City Council approve the final plat for the subdivision of land to be known as 
“Martway Office Buildings”. 

 

Related Statute/City Ordinance:  

Line Item Code/Description:  

Available Budget:  

 



STAFF REPORT 
Planning Commission Meeting July 28, 2014 

 
AGENDA ITEM NO.: 2  
 
PROJECT NUMBER / TITLE: Case # 14-08 
 
REQUEST: Preliminary & Final Plat of Martway Office Buildings 
 
LOCATION: 6005, 6025, 6045 Martway Street.  
.  
PROPERTY OWNER: APPLICANT:  
Martway Office Buildings LLC Scott Confer 
Nancy Merryman Shafer, Kline & Warren, Inc 
1200 Main St 11250 Corporate Ave 
Kansas City, MO Lenexa, KS  66219 
 
STAFF CONTACT: Danielle Murray   
ADVERTISEMENT: July 1, 2014-The Legal Record  
PUBLIC HEARINGS: July 28, 2014-Planning Commission  
 
Property Information 
The subject property is developed with three office buildings and is currently zoned 
“MS2”.  
Surrounding properties are zoned as follows: 
West,North, East- “MS2” Main Street District 2 , Office buildings, Community Center, 
drive-thru bank, and Apartments 
South-“R-1” City Hall and Outdoor Municipal Pool 
 
Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Recommendation for this area: 
The subject property is identified as appropriate for “Office” for professional and 
financial uses as a transition between residential and commercial areas and “Parks and 
Pathways” to accommodate active and passive recreation, environmentally sensitive 
areas or permanent open spaces. 
 
All surrounding properties are currently developed: 
Surrounding properties are developed.  The Rock Creek bounds the property on the 
south side. 
 
Project Background 
At this time the applicant is requesting approval of a three lot plat in order to divide the 
currently unplatted property into separate lots in accordance with their existing building 
footprints.  The existing buildings will remain. Portions of the lots and buildings are 
currently within the Rock Creek floodplain subject to inundation by the 
1-percent-annual-chance flood event (100 year flood).  The City has previously studied 
this portion of the Rock Creek channel for possible future improvements to reduce the 
flood zone.  The preliminary engineering study (PES) from Black and Veatch, the city’s 
stormwater engineering consultant, indicates that there is sufficient land from the 

 
1 



northern top of channel to the south to accommodate the range of construction options 
studied.  No additional land outside the channel is needed at this time, however an 
access along the north bank will be provided in the form of a drainage easement.  
  
Because the final plat will include dedication of land for public purposes in the form of 
Tract A, the City Council is required to review the plat.  The decision of the Planning 
Commission to approve or deny the proposed preliminary plat shall be final.  
 
Analysis: 
 
Lots 
In the presented plat the applicant proposes to subdivide the subject property which is 
composed of one parcel into three lots.  The subject property has never been platted 
before.  The “MS2” District has no requirements for minimum lot sizes, setbacks or 
density.  The existing buildings are 1 story in height, well below the maximum height of 
3 stories or 45 feet. 
● Lot 1: 20,591 sq ft or .47 acres 
● Lot 2: 29,199 sq ft or .67 acres 
● Lot 3: 22,869 sq ft or .53 acres  
 
Right-of-way 
No right-of-way is being dedicated at this time.  The previous Martway Street 
rehabilitation and the development of the Rock Creek Trail acquired any necessary 
land for public use at that time. 
 
Other Tracts 
One tract is being dedicated to the City as parkland.  Tract A at the southwest edge of 
the plat covers the Rock Creek channel along Lot 1.  The City desires this land to 
facilitate future possible Rock Creek improvements.  
 
Easements 
In consultation with Black & Veatch, the City has requested a drainage easement along 
the north bank of the channel.  This is only to facilitate maintenance. 
 
Staff Recommendation and Motion 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve the preliminary plat and 
recommend approval of the final plat the City Council for Case 14-08 the plat of land to 
be known as “Martway Office Buildings”  
 
Suggested Motion: 
 
Mr Chair, I move the Commission approve the preliminary plat and recommend 
approval of the final plat to the City Council for Case #14-08 the plat of land to be 
known as “Martway Office Buildings”. 
 
Planning Commission Action & Recommendation 
The Planning Commission, at their July 28, 2014 meeting, voted 7-0 to approve the 
preliminary plat and recommend approval of the final plat to the City Council with no 

 
2 



conditions. 

 
3 





 

City of Mission Item Number: 6a - 6d. 

ACTION ITEM SUMMARY Date: July 31, 2014 

Administration From: Gerry Vernon/Laura 
Smith 

Action items require a vote to recommend the item to full City Council for further action. 

 

RE: 2015 Budget Resolution and Financial Policies 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve the Budget Resolution outlining the policy decisions, 
mill levies and fees included in the City of Mission, Rock Creek Drainage District #1 and 
Rock Creek Drainage District #2 budgets for 2015. 
 
DETAILS:   As a part of the annual budget process, the Governing Body adopts a 
budget resolution which outlines and describes the financial policies, tax and fee 
structures and other related issues included in a proposed budget for the upcoming 
fiscal year.  The Resolution included in the packet incorporates the feedback staff has 
received throughout the budget process.  
 
The policies included in the Resolution were the same ones used to develop the 
budget presented in the July 23rd Community Dialogue and the August 6th budget 
public hearings.  The final steps in adopting the 2015 Budgets will occur at the August 
20, 2014 City Council meeting and include:  
 
 

● Approve 2015 Budget Resolution and Financial Policies 
● Adopt City of Mission 2015 Budget 
● Adopt Rock Creek Drainage District #1 2015 Budget 
● Adopt Rock Creek Drainage District #2 2015 Budget  

 
 
 

 

Related Statute/City Ordinance:  

Line Item Code/Description:  

Available Budget:  

 



CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS 
RESOLUTION NO.  _____ 

 
A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING BUDGET POLICIES FOR BUDGET YEAR 2015 FOR THE 
CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS. 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Mission must continue to provide basic services to protect the health, safety, 
and welfare of the citizens of this community; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Mission created a redevelopment vision designed to bring increased density 

to our commercial corridors to diversify revenue sources and lower the per capita cost of basic services; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is important to fund the replacement and repair of public infrastructure such as streets, 

sidewalks, storm water structures, parks, and public facilities to encourage private redevelopment; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has implemented more transparent methods for paying for services and 
infrastructure through stormwater, solid waste, and transportation utility fee structures; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Governing Body of the City of Mission: 
 
Section 1.   The Governing Body establishes the following policies to maintain the public infrastructure as 
part of the Community Investment Program (CIP) within the 2015 Budget. 
 
1. Maintain the Stormwater Utility Fee at $23.00 per ERU per month.  This rates includes $19.00 per 

month to repay $1.7 million annually on existing stormwater debt and $4.00 per month to fund the 
construction of the Johnson Drive Interceptor.  The Stormwater Utility generates approximately $2.1 
million annually. 

2. Maintain the current property tax mill rate of 10.500 mills in Rock Creek Drainage District #1 and 
Rock Creek Drainage District #2.  The Drainage Districts generate approximately $80,000 in annual 
revenue.  

3. Maintain the Transportation Utility rate at $0.0149 per trip for commercial properties and $0.02076 for 
residential properties which will generate approximately $775,000 annually.  These revenues are used 
in conjunction with the ¼ cent Transportation Sales Tax that generates approximately $495,000 
annually for the street program. 

4. Use the revenues from the ⅜-cent Parks & Recreation Sales Tax for debt service on the outdoor 
aquatic facility, facility/equipment and operating costs associated with the Sylvester Powell, Jr. 
Community Center and maintenance of the City’s outdoor park and trail amenities.  The sales tax 
generates approximately $735,000 annually. 

 
Section 2.   The Governing Body has established the following policies to maintain basic services and city 
operations as part of the General Fund and within the 2015 Budget. 
 
1. Hold the current mill levy rates constant at 11.413 with all mills levied in the General Fund. 
2. Maintain a General Fund balance of no less than $1.5 million.  The City’s goal for reserve funds is 

25% of our total General Fund revenues.  To reach that goal, the city would need to have a General 
Fund balance of approximately $2.5 million. 

3. Maintain the Solid Waste Utility Rate at $13.59 per month for single-family property owners. An 
estimated transfer in the amount of $83,000 from the General Fund subsidizes single-family residential 



trash service from Deffenbaugh, which will be contracted at a rate of $15.92 per month per home in 
2015. 

4. Continue to implement merit pool increases for outstanding employee performance. 
5. Fund replacement of identified needs from the 10-year replacement schedule, including replacement 

of a portion of the Police Department fleet and the streetsweeper.  All capital equipment in the 2015 
budget is anticipated to be acquired through lease-purchase agreements.  

6. Maintain the Franchise and Mill Rate Rebate program at 100% of the City Franchise Fees, 75% of the 
total City Mill exclusive of all City special assessments, and 50% rebate of the Solid Waste Utility Fee. 
This expense is estimated at approximately $18,000. 

7. Maintain a cost recovery goal of 80% for the Community Center, excluding capital.  The 2015 budget 
estimates that the city will recover 79% of our Parks & Recreation expenditures.  The budget also 
includes a transfer of $25,000 from the Parks & Recreation sales tax revenues to offset operating 
expenses. 

 
Section 3.   The Governing Body directs staff to pursue the following areas as part of on-going budget 
considerations. 
 
1. Continue exploring possible partnership options that could decrease costs supported by Mission 

taxpayers. 
2. Proceed with a community visioning/survey process that will assist in reviewing and updating the 

City’s Comprehensive Plan 
 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF MISSION on this 20th 
day of August 2014. 

 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR on this 20th day of August 2014. 

 
 

______________________________________ 
Steve Schowengerdt, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Martha Sumrall, City Clerk 



 

2015 Recommended Budget 

 

 

August 6, 2014 



2
0

1
5

 r
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
e

d
 b

u
d

g
e

t
 

organizational structure 



2
0

1
5

 r
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
e

d
 b

u
d

g
e

t
 

elected officials 

Pat Quinn 
(913) 927-8511 

pquinn@missionks.org 

Ward I Councilmembers 

Ward IV Councilmembers Ward III Councilmembers 

Ward II Councilmembers 

Mayor 

Steven Lucas 
(913) 558-2290 

slucas@missionks.org 

Steve Schowengerdt 
(913) 481-3235 

mayor@missionks.org 

Amy Miller 
(913) 677-0169 

amiller@missionks.org 

Arcie Rothrock 
(913) 568-2872 

arothrock@missionks.org 

Debbie Kring 
(913) 722-6901 

dkring@missionks.org 

Jennifer Cowdry 
(913) 384-1263 

jcowdry@missionks.org 

Suzie Gibbs 
(913) 671-8564 

sgibbs@missionks.org 

David Shepard 
(913) 671-8521 

dshepard@missionks.org 



Annual Budget - Purpose and Goals 
 
A city’s budget is not just an accounting document - it is a management and planning tool.  When 
resources are limited, the budget helps determine which objectives have the highest priority, will meet 
the greatest needs, and produce the greatest positive impact in the community.  The City’s annual 
budget becomes a dollars and cents expression of the most immediate priorities.  In adopting an annual 
budget, a City Council quite literally, “puts its money where its mouth is.”   
 
Kansas law requires every City to develop and adopt a balanced budget on an annual basis.  But, even if 
State law did not require it, good government demands that public entities regularly and periodically 
assess their organizational goals and their financial ability to achieve these goals.   Among other things, a 
budget is: 
 

● a statement of priorities that reflects a vision of the City’s collective future 
● a spending guide which reflects the City’s priorities 
● a policy document indicating policy decisions and priorities by allocating funds to specific 

services and programs 
● a communication device sharing these choices with residents and businesses 
● an outline of anticipated revenues to support City services, including tax rates 
● a plan of objectives for the upcoming fiscal year 

  
Budget Development Process 
 
The Mayor, City Council, City staff, and the citizens of Mission are all important participants in the 
creation and execution of the City’s budget.  The formal budget process begins in the first quarter of 
each year, and State law requires the City’s budget be submitted to the County Clerk by August 25th. 
 
In order to help the Mayor and City Council discern which programs and issues are of the highest priority 
to citizens, it is important for the residents of Mission to play an active role in the budget process.  Over 
the last several months, public discussions have taken place at City Council Committee meetings and 
City Council work sessions.  The final step in the 2015 budget process will be a public hearing at 6:00 
p.m. on Wednesday, August 6th and adoption of the budget at the August 20, 2014 City Council 
meeting.   
 
2015 Recommended Budget 
 
Each year throughout the budget process, potential threats and opportunities to the City’s service 
delivery objectives are identified.  These items may come from the overall economy, the public, elected 
officials, or from the professional staff.   Issues considered and discussed in developing the 2015 
Recommended Budget include, but were not limited to:   
 

● Balancing service delivery/operating needs with infrastructure investment 
● Appropriately funding facility and equipment needs 
● General public sentiment and expectations to decrease government spending 
● Declines in community center and fine/forfeiture revenues 
● Slow recovery in property values city-wide 
● Increased redevelopment opportunities city-wide 

 



The City of Mission's budget covers the period of January 1st through December 31st.  The total budget 
is made up of more than twenty (20) individual funds.  Annual budget discussions focus primarily on the 
City’s General Fund and 5-6 other funds tied specifically to capital infrastructure investments through 
the use of dedicated revenue streams.  The entire budget is adopted together, but the City’s operating 
and infrastructure budgets are typically discussed separately throughout the process.   
 
 General Fund 
 
The City’s General Fund accounts for the core City functions and services such as Public Safety, Public 
Works, Parks & Recreation, and Administration.  This is an operating budget, focused primarily on 
revenues coming and going in a particular fiscal year.   There are five primary revenue streams that 
support the General Fund budget:  property taxes, sales/use taxes, franchise fees, fines, and parks and 
recreation revenues.  Altogether, these revenues make up 90-95% of the annual General Fund budget.  
Fluctuations in these revenue streams impact how the City is able to pay for and maintain core services. 
 

  
 
The 2015 Recommended General Fund Budget includes the following policies and priorities: 
 

1. Holds the current mill levy rate constant (11.413 mills) 
2. Maintains a General Fund balance of no less than $1.5 million.  The City’s goal for reserve funds 

is 25% of our total General Fund revenues.  To reach that goal, the City would need to have a 
General Fund balance of approximately $2.5 million. 

3. Maintains the Solid Waste Utility Rate at $13.59 per month for single-family property owners. 
An estimated transfer in the amount of $83,000 from the General Fund subsidizes single-family 
residential trash service from Deffenbaugh, which will be billed at a rate of $15.92 per month 
per home. 

4. Continues to implement merit pool increases for outstanding employee performance. 
5. Funds replacement of identified needs from the 10-year replacement schedule, including 

replacement of vehicles in the Police Department fleet and the streetsweeper. 
6. Maintains the Franchise and Mill Rate Rebate program at 100% of the City Franchise Fees, 75% 

of the total City Mill exclusive of all City special assessments, and 50% rebate of the Solid Waste  
 



Utility Fee for income qualified participants.  This expense is estimated at approximately 
$18,000. 

7. Maintains a cost recovery goal of 80% for the Community Center, excluding capital.  The 2015 
budget estimates that the city will recover 79% of our Parks & Recreation expenditures.  The 
budget also includes a transfer of $25,000 from the Parks & Recreation sales tax revenues to 
offset operating expenses. 

 
In addition to the ongoing delivery of programs and services, the 2015 General Fund budget includes 
funds to accomplish the following supplemental/priority projects: 
 

● Completion of a citizen visioning/comprehensive plan update process. 
● Completion of the ETC Direction Finder Survey (previously conducted in 2007 and 2011). 
● Demolition of the former Neff Printing building (7080 Martway). 
● Replacement of the City Hall/Police Station roof. 

 

 
 
In order to achieve a balanced budget, and to meet the objectives outlined above, several vacant 
positions will be held and evaluated as the budget year progresses.  Departments also worked 
collaboratively to carefully review and identify additional savings across all program and service delivery 
areas.  The 2015 Budget essentially represents a “bridge” as we wait for the economy to improve.  
Included below is a historical look at General Fund Revenues and Expenditures over the last five years.   
Both have been relatively constant during this time period, and present challenges in meeting service 
delivery expectations with a diminishing revenue base will continue in the coming years.  
 



 
 

 
 

 
Capital Project Funds 
 
Capital infrastructure projects are generally large in scope (expensive) and often take several years to 
complete.  Because of this, they are more appropriately handled outside of the General Fund.    Over the 
last several years, Mission has emphasized infrastructure investments, primarily for storm water and 
streets.  With an increased investment in these long-term assets, dedicated revenue streams have been 
implemented to increase transparency and accountability. 
 
Concurrent with the budget process, the City Council develops and reviews a multi-year Community 
Investment Program (CIP).  A five-year CIP serves as a guide for the efficient and effective provision of 
public infrastructure facilities, outlining a timeline and schedule of capital projects for a five-year period 



of time.  There are several benefits to developing and adopting a Community Investment Program. Not 
only does it become a management tool for the Governing Body and City staff, it can also provide valuable 
information to the Planning Commission, citizens, developers and businesses who are interested in the 
development and redevelopment of Mission. The CIP document can assist in leveraging available 
resources through improved timing of projects, and coordination of the City’s projects with those of other 
public or private entities. 
 
The goal of Mission’s 2015-2019 Community Investment Program (CIP) is to forecast future public 
improvements and facilities in the City and to provide data concerning need, cost, timing, funding sources, 
budget impacts and alternatives. The goal is pursued with the following objectives. 

 
Capital Improvement Plan/Program Objectives 

● Integrate the CIP into the Annual Budget in order to provide a comprehensive financial plan for 
accomplishing the goals of the City. 

● Execute the CIP budgetary process in a manner that will provide the Governing Body with an 
opportunity to respond to community needs. 

● Leverage City resources against available federal, state and county funds in such a manner that 
the present and future citizens of Mission will be provided with the highest level of services and 
facilities without adverse financial impacts in the future. 

● Support decisions and actions that assist in maintaining the City’s bond rating. 
 

 
 
The first year of the plan reflects the recommended capital budget for the 2015 budget. The remaining 
four years represent a schedule and estimate of future capital needs that may be funded given adequate 
revenues.  The recommended 2015-2019 CIP includes the following policies and priorities: 
 

1. Maintain the Stormwater Utility Fee at $23.00 per ERU per month, which generates 
approximately $2.1 million annually and is dedicated primarily to the repayment of existing 
stormwater debt service. 



2. Maintain the current property tax mill rate of 10.500 mills in Rock Creek Drainage District #1 and 
Rock Creek Drainage District #2.  This generates approximately $80,000 in revenue annually. 

3. Maintain the Transportation Utility Fee rate at $0.0149 per trip for commercial properties and 
$0.02076 for residential properties, which will generate approximately $775,000 annually.  This 
is in conjunction with the ¼-cent Transportation Sales Tax that generates approximately 
$495,000 annually for the street program. 

4. Use the ⅜-cent Parks & Recreation Sales Tax that generates approximately $735,000 annually 
for debt service on the outdoor aquatic facility, facility and equipment maintenance at the 
Sylvester Powell, Jr. Community Center, and maintenance of the City’s outdoor park and trail 
amenities. 

 
Questions or comments regarding the recommended 2015 Budget may be addressed to: 
 
 Gerry Vernon, City Administrator  Laura Smith, Assistant City Administrator 
 (913) 676-8352     (913) 676-8353 
 gvernon@missionks.org    lsmith@missionks.org 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:gvernon@missionks.org
mailto:lsmith@missionks.org


Fund:  General

Actual Budget Budget

2013 2014 2015

$1,340,574 $1,551,771 $1,618,371

REVENUES

Taxes

Property Tax $1,168,193 $1,200,000 $1,320,000
Delinquent Property Tax $12,731 $15,000 $15,000
Motor Vehicle Tax $132,115 $125,000 $153,478
City Sales and Use Tax $2,569,503 $2,500,000 $2,525,000
County Sales and Use Tax $769,699 $750,000 $750,000
County Sales/Use Tax - Jail $192,338 $185,000 $185,000
County Sales/Use Tax - Public Safety $192,338 $185,000 $185,000
Franchise Tax $1,022,854 $1,050,000 $1,050,000
Alcohol Tax $42,641 $34,000 $42,800
CID/TIF Sales Tax Revenues $104,223 $105,000 $105,000
Subtotal Taxes $6,206,635 $6,149,000 $6,331,278

Licenses and Permits $201,191 $170,000 $150,000
$114,231 $140,000 $140,000

Police Fines $1,247,155 $1,450,000 $1,350,000
Charges for Services $181,292 $285,000 $185,000
Interest $1,609 $1,500 $1,500
Miscellaneous and Other $139,281 $200,000 $125,000
Pool Revenues $50,685 $100,000 $100,000
Parks Special Event Revenues $167,718 $200,000 $190,000
Mission Square PILOTS $53,125 $53,125 $53,125
Transfer P&R Sales Tax Revenues $0 $100,000 $25,000
Transfers from other Funds $60,557 $0 $0
Community Center Revenues $1,487,754 $1,575,000 $1,500,000

TOTAL REVENUES $9,911,233 $10,423,625 $10,150,903

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services $5,998,562 $6,443,800 $6,434,630
Contractual Services $2,619,943 $2,620,525 $2,603,580
Commodities $386,066 $495,200 $505,350
Capital Outlay $183,110 $522,000 $210,000
Debt Service $19,660 $80,000 $80,000
CID/TIF Distributions $123,723 $105,000 $105,000
Contingency/Reserves/Transfers $368,972 $90,500 $268,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $9,700,036 $10,357,025 $10,206,560

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31 $1,551,771 $1,618,371 $1,562,714

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Jo Co Plan Review/Inspection Fees

10



Fund:  Bond & Interest

Actual Estimated Budget

2013 2014 2015

$2,787 $5,682 $5,682

REVENUES

Taxes

Property Tax $118,274 $119,800
Delinquent Property Tax $1,246 $1,000
Motor Vehicle Tax $13,368 $13,600

Interest $7 $0 $0
Special Assessments $0 $0 $0
Transfers from Other Funds $0 $10,500

TOTAL REVENUES $132,895 $144,900 $0

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services $0 $0 $0
Contractual Services $0 $0 $0
Commodities $0 $0 $0
Capital Outlay $0 $0 $0
Debt Service $130,000 $144,900 $0

$0 $0 $5,682

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $130,000 $144,900 $5,682

$5,682 $5,682 $0

Guidelines:  Resources used for the payment of principal, interest and related costs of the general obligation
bonds other than sales tax bonds, as well as certain other long-term obligations of the City.

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

Fund Sources:  Property Tax, Motor Vehicle Tax, Special Assessments, Interest and Transfers from
other funds.

11



Fund:  Solid Waste Utility

Actual Estimated Budget

2013 2014 2015

$(48,129) $(46,223) $1,277

REVENUES

Interest $0 $0 $0
Solid Waste Utility Fees $482,770 $485,000 $485,000
Trash/Yard Waste Stickers $2,278 $3,000 $2,500
Recycling Rebate $0 $4,500 $3,500
Transfers from Other Funds $82,000 $85,000 $85,000

TOTAL REVENUES $567,048 $577,500 $576,000

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services $0 $0 $0
Contractual Services $564,142 $530,000 $567,000
Commodities $1,000 $0 $1,000
Capital Outlay $0 $0 $0
Debt Service $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $565,142 $530,000 $568,000

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31 $(46,223) $1,277 $9,277

the City.

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

Fund Sources:  Solid Waste Utility Fees, Recycling Rebates, Interest and Transfers from other funds.

Guidelines:  Resources used for the payment of costs related to the provision of residential solid waste services in

12



Fund:  Special Alcohol

Actual Estimated Budget

2013 2014 2015

$10,637 $15,778 $9,778

REVENUES

Alcohol Tax $42,641 $34,000 $42,800

Interest $0 $0 $0
Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $0

0
TOTAL REVENUES $42,641 $34,000 $42,800

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services $7,500 $10,000 $15,000
Contractual Services $30,000 $30,000 $35,000
Commodities $0 $0 $0
Capital Outlay $0 $0 $0
Debt Service $0 $0 $0
Contingency/Reserves/Transfers $0 $0 $0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $37,500 $40,000 $50,000

$15,778 $9,778 $2,578

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Fund Sources:  Special Alcohol Tax.  K.S.A. 79-41a-04

Guidelines: To be used for treating or preventing alcohol/drug abuse.  Most funds are allocated through the Drug
and Alcohol Council.  A portion of the funds may be used for Mission's DARE Officer.

13



Actual Estimated Budget

2013 2014 2015

$51,992 $53,447 $31,447

REVENUES

$20,268 $15,000 $15,000
Interest $0 $0 $0

$44,312 $45,000 $45,000
Art Council Revenue $4,953 $4,000 $4,000
Holiday Adoption Revenue $4,354 $5,000 $5,000
Miscellaneous Revenue $0 $0 $0

TOTAL REVENUES $73,887 $69,000 $69,000

EXPENDITURES

MCVB General Expenses $2,068 $2,000 $2,000
Mission Family Festival $4,895 $6,000 $6,000
Arts & Eats Festival $22,573 $25,000 $25,000
Holiday Lights Event $8,210 $15,000 $15,000
Mission Merchants $3,156 $0 $0
MCVB Magazine $22,820 $35,000 $35,000
Arts Council Expenses $4,635 $3,000 $3,000
Holiday Adoptions $4,074 $5,000 $5,000

$0 $0 $0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $72,432 $91,000 $91,000

$53,447 $31,447 $9,447FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

Fund Sources:  Transient Guest Tax receipts, sponsorships, special event revenue

Guidelines: To be used for the promotion of convention and tourism, attracting people to the City of Mission.

Fund:  Mission Convention and Visitors Bureau

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Transient Guest Tax Receipts

Event Sponsorship/Revenue

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

14



Fund:  Stormwater

Actual Estimated Budget

2013 2014 2015

$39,206 $191,051 $504,419

REVENUES

Taxes

Property Tax $0 $0 $0
Delinquent Property Tax $414 $0 $0
Motor Vehicle Tax $8 $0 $0

Interest $61 $500 $100
Stormwater Utility Fees $2,099,774 $2,175,000 $2,125,000
Intergovernmental Revenue $0 $0
Miscellaneous Revenue $484,241
Bond Proceeds $0 $0
Transfers from Other Funds $80,000 $80,000

TOTAL REVENUES $2,100,257 $2,739,741 $2,205,100

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services $55,358 $50,000 $50,000
Contractual Services $17,713 $68,000 $0
Commodities $0 $0 $0
Capital Outlay $0 $0 $0
Debt Service $1,875,341 $2,308,373 $2,637,986

$0 $0 $20,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $1,948,412 $2,426,373 $2,707,986

$191,051 $504,419 $1,533

unit (ERU) to be used for storm water improvements city-wide.

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

Fund Sources:  Stormwater Utility fees, Interest, Transfers and Intergovernmental Revenue

Guidelines:  Established to account for storm water utility charges received based on equivalent residential

15



Actual Estimated Budget
2013 2014 2015

$486 $2,506 $2,565

REVENUES

Taxes $5,020 $2,559 $2,708
Interest $0 $0 $0
Special Assessments $0 $0 $0
Bond Proceeds $0 $0 $0
Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $0

TOTAL REVENUES $5,020 $2,559 $2,708

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services $0 $0 $0
Contractual Services $0 $0 $0
Commodities $0 $0 $0
Capital Outlay $0 $0 $0
Debt Service $3,000 $2,500 $5,000

$0 $0 $214

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $3,000 $2,500 $5,214

$2,506 $2,565 $59

Guidelines:  For construction, maintenance, repair or replacement of storm sewers and storm drains
contained within the storm drainage district or within the watershed in the City that contributed to the
storm drainage flowing into and/or out of the storm drainage district.  May also be used for debt service
associated with the construction, maintenance, repair or replacement of same storm sewers and drains.

Rock Creek Drainage District #1

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

Fund Sources:  Property Tax, Special Assessments, Interest and Transfers from other funds

16



Actual Estimated Budget

2013 2014 2015

$6,800 $4,415 $5,915

REVENUES

Taxes $77,615 $79,000 $79,130
Interest $0 $0 $0
Special Assessments $0 $0 $0
Bond Proceeds $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0

TOTAL REVENUES $77,615 $79,000 $79,130

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services $0 $0 $0
Contractual Services $0 $0 $0
Commodities $0 $0 $0
Capital Outlay $0 $0 $0
Debt Service $80,000 $77,500 $80,000

$0 $0 $5,045

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $80,000 $77,500 $85,045

$4,415 $5,915 $(0)

Fund Sources:  Property Tax, Special Assessments, Interest and Transfers from other funds

Guidelines:  For construction, maintenance, repair or replacement of storm sewers and storm drains
contained within the storm drainage district or within the watershed in the City that contributed to the
storm drainage flowing into and/or out of the drainage district.  May also be used for debt service
associated with the construction, maintenance, repair or replacement of same storm sewers and drains.

Rock Creek Drainage District #2

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Transfers from Other Funds

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

17



Fund:  Special Highway

Actual Estimated Budget

2013 2014 2015

$34,099 $62,658 $76,638

REVENUES

Intergovernmental Revenue

State of KS Gas Tax $238,646 $241,480 $243,460
CARS Reimbursements $0 $0 $0
Other Intergovernmental Revenue $0 $0 $0

Interest $0 $0 $0
Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $0

TOTAL REVENUES $238,646 $241,480 $243,460

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services $10,000 $15,000 $15,000
Contractual Services $0 $0 $0
Commodities $0 $0 $0
Capital Outlay $200,087 $212,500 $212,500
Debt Service $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $85,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $210,087 $227,500 $312,500

.

$62,658 $76,638 $7,598

Guidelines: Used for construction, reconstruction, alteration, repair and maintenance of streets, highways,
bridges and appurtenances (e.g. curbing, streetlights, drainage structures).  May also be used for personnel
services expenses for employees performing these functions.  Accounts for monies sent quarterly from the
State Treasurer's office in compliance with K.S.A. 79-3452C.

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

Fund Sources:  State of Kansas Gasoline Tax, County Assisted Road System (CARS) reimbursements, interest,
transfers from other funds, and State or Federal Grant funds.

18



Actual Estimated Budget

2013 2014 2015

$374,605 $429,905 $450,235

REVENUES

Sales Tax $527,892 $491,250 $495,000

Interest $33 $25 $25
Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $0

TOTAL REVENUES $527,925 $491,275 $495,025

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services $0 $0 $0
Contractual Services $0 $0 $0
Commodities $0 $0 $0
Capital Outlay $0 $0 $0
Debt Service $472,625 $470,945 $473,845
Contingency/Reserves/Transfers $0 $0 $400,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $472,625 $470,945 $873,845

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31 $429,905 $450,235 $71,415

Fund:  Debt Service - Sales Tax Bonds - Streets

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Fund Sources:  1/4 of 1% General Sales tax.  Effective April 1, 2012.  Sales tax sunsets in 10 years.

Guidelines:  Established to account for revenues received from 1/4 of one percent sales tax for streets, pledged to retire
the Series 2012-A General Obligation Bonds issued for the Martway/Johnson Drive rehabilitation projects.

19



Actual Estimated Budget

2013 2014 2015

$327,366 $1,078,816 $244,226

REVENUES

Transportation Utility Fees $771,246 $790,607 $775,000
Miscellaneous Revenue $0 $0 $0
Intergovernmental Revenue $259,062 $1,450,000 $0
Reimbursed Expenses $362,092 $0 $0
Bond Proceeds $0 $0 $0
Interest $78 $75 $75
Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $0

TOTAL REVENUES $1,392,478 $2,240,682 $775,075

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services $0 $0 $0
Contractual Services $0 $0 $0
Commodities $0 $0 $0
Capital Outlay $182,878 $212,500 $130,000
Debt Service $458,150 $2,862,772 $877,613

$0 $0 $0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $641,028 $3,075,272 $1,007,613

$1,078,816 $244,226 $11,688

Guidelines:  Established to account for transportation utility charges received based on an established land-use
formula per parcel to fund street and other transportation related improvements.

Fund:  Transportation

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

Fund Sources:  Transportation Utility fees, interest, intergovernmental revenue and transfers from other funds.

20



Actual Estimated Budget

2013 2014 2015

$3,926,491 $4,790,755 $614,582

REVENUES

Bond Proceeds $5,251,822 $0 $0
Interest $401 $500 $500
Intergovernmental Revenue $72,155 $1,565,000
Miscellaneous Revenue $25,921 $190,000
Sale of Fixed Assets $0 $0 $0

$1,525 $10,000 $1,500
Mission Pet Mart Loan $64,360 $65,000 $65,000
Transfers from Other Funds $183,000 $0 $0

TOTAL REVENUES $5,599,184 $1,830,500 $67,000

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services $55,358 $50,000 $50,000
Contractual Services $1,275,227 $0 $0
Commodities $0 $0 $0
Capital Outlay $2,803,480 $5,827,549 $184,113
Debt Service $600,855 $129,124 $368,997
Contingency/Reserves/Transfers $0 $0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $4,734,920 $6,006,673 $603,110

$4,790,755 $614,582 $78,472

Guidelines:  Accounts for resources used to construct and maintain infrastructure city-wide in accordance with a
5-Year Capital Improvement Plan or to cover debt service obligations for capital infrastructure projects.

Fund:  Capital Improvement

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

West Gateway Plan Review Fees

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

Fund Sources: Sales Tax, interest, transfers, intergovernmental revenues and proceeds from bond issues.

21



Actual Estimated Budget

2013 2014 2015

$0 $3,524,039 $209,987

REVENUES

Sales Tax $586,085 $736,890 $735,000
Interest $1,051 $0 $0
Bond Proceeds $4,720,192 $0 $0
Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $0

TOTAL REVENUES $5,307,328 $736,890 $735,000

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services $0 $0 $0
Contractual Services $0 $70,000 $0
Commodities $0 $0
Capital Outlay $1,666,549 $3,260,904 $220,500
Debt Service $116,740 $530,038 $529,650
Contingency/Reserves/Transfers $0 $190,000 $125,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $1,783,289 $4,050,942 $875,150

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31 $3,524,039 $209,987 $69,837

dedicated to other parks and recreation activities, including operating costs.

Fund:  Sales Tax - Parks & Recreation

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Fund Sources:  3/8 of 1% General Sales Tax.  Effective April 1, 2013.  Sales tax sunsets in 10 years.

Guidelines:  Established to account for revenues received from 3/8 of one percent sales tax for parks and recreation, a portion
is pledged to retire the Series 2013-B General Obligation Bonds issued for the outdoor aquatic facility project.  The balance is

22



Actual Estimated Budget

2013 2014 2015

$122,942 $166,621 $117,921

REVENUES

Alcohol Tax $42,641 $34,000 $42,800

Interest $0 $0 $0
Miscellaneous $100,000 $0 $0
Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $0

TOTAL REVENUES $142,641 $34,000 $42,800

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services $0 $0 $0
Contractual Services $0 $0 $0
Commodities $0 $0 $0
Capital Outlay $98,962 $0 $85,000
Debt Service/Lease Payments $0 $57,700 $57,700
Contingency/Reserves/Transfers $0 $25,000 $0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $98,962 $82,700 $142,700

$166,621 $117,921 $18,021

programs and facilities.

Fund:  Special Parks & Recreation

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Fund Sources:  Special Alcohol Tax.  K.S.A. 79-41a04

Guidelines:  Used for the purchase, establishment, maintenance or expansion of park and recreational services,

23



CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS 

RESOLUTION NO. _____ 

  

 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE 2015-2019 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT 

PROGRAM (CIP) FOR THE CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS. 

  

WHEREAS, the City of Mission, faces significant infrastructure projects, 

including, streets, stormwater, and public facilities necessary to maintain 

property values and encourage additional private-sector redevelopment; and 

 

WHEREAS, in City-wide surveys conducted by ETC in 2007 and 2011, 

the citizens of Mission articulated redevelopment as the top priority facing the 

city; and 

  

WHEREAS, the City of Mission, has invested over $70 million in 

infrastructure during the past ten years in support of both public and 

private-sector goals; and 

  

WHEREAS, a multiyear CIP is widely recognized as an important 

planning and budgeting document for municipalities; and 

 

WHEREAS, the CIP contains expenditures to actively construct and 

maintain capital projects as well as to pay debt service on bonds issued for 

infrastructure improvements; and 

  

WHEREAS, the annual adoption of a CIP does not commit the city to any 

expenditures and is simply a forecasting tool for the annual budget process; 

and 

  

WHEREAS, the CIP better positions the city to solicit external funds to 

help fund infrastructure projects in the City of Mission, 

  

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Governing Body of the City of 

Mission: 

  

Section 1. The 2015-2019 CIP is adopted.  The City expects to receive 

approximately $4.5 million of revenue and spend $5.9 million in 

expenditures as part of the 2015 budget related to the Community 

Investment Program.  The difference between revenue and 

expenditures is covered through outside grant/intergovernmental funds 

and the use of carry-over funds from prior years.  The CIP is supported 

with dedicated revenue sources and no longer anticipates impacting the 



General Fund operating budget. 

 

Section 2. In 2015, the CIP will fund projects and debt service in three 

primary program areas as follows: 

 

a. Streets:  the annual residential street maintenance program, debt 

service related to street repair/replacement, and the design of 

Foxridge improvements (56th-51st Street). 

b. Stormwater:  Debt service for stormwater projects and a repair and 

maintenance fund.  

c. Parks & Recreation:  debt service for the outdoor aquatic facility, 

facility and equipment maintenance for the Sylvester Powell Jr., 

Community Center and the creation of reserve funds for facility and 

outdoor parks maintenance.  

 

Section 3. The Governing Body acknowledges that there are other 

infrastructure projects which have been identified but are not included 

in the 2015-2019 CIP.  These include, but are not limited to:  

  

a. Street construction projects for Barkley St (57th St to 61s t St), 

Broadmoor St (Johnson Dr to Martway St), Johnson Dr (Lamar Ave 

to Metcalf Ave, and Metcalf Ave (56th St to 61s t St).  Each of these 

public projects would likely be pursued in partnership with private 

redevelopment by adjacent property owners. 

b. Complete the remediation of the Rock Creek Floodplain and 

establish a Secondary Stormwater System Construction Program. 

c. Support Downtown Mission redevelopment via public parking, 

public parkland, and a local market that considers the priorities 

established by the Downtown Visioning Committee as 

acknowledged by the Governing Body in Resolution 849 on 

November 16, 2011. 

d. Locate Administrative and Public Safety personnel in facilities that 

can sustainably meet the long-term needs of the city. 

e. Complete the Streamway Trail System in Mission by building the 

last mile of Turkey Creek Trail, and begin work on secondary trail 

system to connect neighborhoods to the primary system. 

f. Enhance the Neighborhood Park System by improving amenities 

available in Andersen, Broadmoor, Waterworks, Mohawk, and 

Streamway Park. 

 

 

THIS RESOLUTION IS PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MISSION, this 20th day of August 2014. 



  

 

 

THIS RESOLUTION IS APPROVED BY THE MAYOR this 20th day of 

August 2014. 

  

 

  

_______________________________ 

    Steve Schowengerdt, Mayor  

 

ATTEST: 

  

  

_____________________________ 

Martha Sumrall, City Clerk 

 



 

2015-2019 Community Investment Program  

(CIP) 

 

 

24



2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Revenues
Beginning Balance 10,659,468     1,565,562       89,916            (350,141)         1,061,850               (2,520,357)             

Local Revenue

       4,338,497        4,210,000        4,328,747        4,966,145                4,779,457                4,804,529 

External Revenue

       6,255,480           286,260           611,260        2,186,260                   286,260                1,786,260 

Debt Proceeds

                      -                       -                       -                       -                               -                               - 

Total CIP Revenues 10,593,977     4,496,260       4,940,007       7,152,405       5,065,717               6,590,789               

Expenses

Capital Projects

     12,513,453           539,613           846,635        1,136,000                4,111,900                   381,500 

Maintenance Programs

          768,000           585,000           600,000           670,000                   600,000                   600,000 

Debt Service Remaining Debt Service

       6,406,431        4,847,293        3,933,428        3,934,415                3,936,023                3,991,167 $22,332,042

Total CIP Expenses 19,687,884     5,971,906       5,380,063       5,740,415       8,647,923               4,972,667               

Ending Balance 1,565,562       89,916            (350,141)         1,061,850       (2,520,357)             (902,235)                

2014-2019 Community Investment Program - Overview

25



2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Revenues
Beginning Balance 10,659,468     1,565,562       89,916            (350,141)         1,061,850               (2,520,357)             

Streets        6,212,334           737,989               5,315            (37,587)                1,651,652               (1,600,957)
Stormwater           750,792           504,419               1,433          (508,104)               (1,090,011)               (1,855,855)

Parks & Recreation        3,696,342           323,154             83,168           195,550                   500,209                   936,455 

Local Revenue

Streets 1,287,207       1,270,000       1,336,857       1,628,186                      1,653,511                1,663,538 
Stormwater 2,180,000       2,205,000       2,205,000       2,205,000       1,955,000               1,955,000               

Parks & Recreation 871,290          735,000          786,890          1,132,959                      1,170,946                1,185,991 

External Revenue

Streets 6,221,480       243,460          568,460          2,143,460       243,460                  1,743,460               
Stormwater -                      -                      -                      -                                                    -                               - 

Parks & Recreation             34,000             42,800             42,800             42,800                     42,800                     42,800 

Debt Proceeds

Streets -                      -                      -                      -                                                    -                               - 
Stormwater -                      -                      -                      -                                                    -                               - 

Parks & Recreation -                      -                      -                      -                                                    -                               - 

Total CIP Revenues 10,593,977     4,496,260       4,940,007       7,152,405       5,065,717               6,590,789               

Expenses

Capital Projects

Streets        9,177,549           184,113           756,285           888,900                3,960,500                   100,000 
Stormwater 0 0 0 0 0 0

Parks & Recreation        3,335,904           355,500             90,350           247,100                   151,400                   281,500 

Maintenance/Operations Programs

Streets           440,000           440,000           450,000           450,000                   450,000                   450,000 
Stormwater 118,000          70,000            100,000          170,000          100,000                  100,000                  

Parks & Recreation 210,000          75,000            50,000            50,000                                50,000                     50,000 

Debt Service Remaining Debt Service

Streets 3,365,484       1,622,021                 741,933 743,508                            739,079                   738,723 $2,490,692
Stormwater 2,308,373       2,637,986       2,614,537       2,616,907                      2,620,844                2,680,194 $17,721,350

Parks & Recreation 732,574          587,286          576,958          574,000                            576,100                   572,250 $2,120,000

Total CIP Expenses 19,687,884     5,971,906       5,380,063       5,740,415       8,647,923               4,972,667               

Ending Balance 1,565,562       89,916            (350,141)         1,061,850       (2,520,357)             (902,235)                

Streets 737,989          5,315              (37,587)           1,651,652       (1,600,957)             517,319                  
Stormwater 504,419          1,433              (508,104)         (1,090,011)      (1,855,855)             (2,681,049)             

Parks & Recreation 323,154          83,168            195,550          500,209          936,455                  1,261,496               

2014-2019 Community Investment Program - Summary by Program Area

26



2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Revenues
Beginning Balance 6,212,334       737,989          5,315              (37,587)           1,651,652               (1,600,957)              

Local Revenue

Transportation Utility Fund Revenues 790,607          775,000          750,000          750,000          750,000                  750,000                  
Gateway TUF Revenues 60,607            121,213                            121,213                   121,213 

0.25% Street Sales Tax Revenues 496,600          495,000          485,000          485,000          485,000                  485,000                  
0.25% Gateway Street Sales Tax Revenues 41,250            271,973                            297,298                   307,325 

Transfers from other Funds
 Sub-total         1,287,207         1,270,000         1,336,857         1,628,186                1,653,511                1,663,538 

External Revenue

CARS Reimbursements 3,015,000       -                      325,000          1,900,000                                     -                1,500,000 
Special Highway 241,480          243,460          243,460          243,460          243,460                  243,460                  

Federal SAFETEA-LU (Martway)
Federal BR/STP (Johnson Drive) 2,800,000       

Miscellaneous Revenues 165,000          
 Sub-total         6,221,480            243,460            568,460         2,143,460                   243,460                1,743,460 

Debt Proceeds

Jo Drive (2013C)
Sub-total                       -                       -                       -                       -                               -                               - 

Total Street Revenues 7,508,687       1,513,460       1,905,317       3,771,646       1,896,971               3,406,998               

Expenses

Capital Projects

Martway (Broadmoor to Woodson) 250,000
Johnson Drive (Lamar to Nall) 8,927,549

Foxridge (56th to 51st) 134,113 656,285
Foxridge (51st to Lamar) 788,900 3,860,500

Johnson Drive (Metcalf to Lamar)

Full-depth Reconstruction Projects (non-CARS eligible) 0 50,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000
Sub-total 9,177,549 184,113 756,285 888,900 3,960,500 100,000

Maintenance Programs

Street Maintenance Program (seal and mill/overlay) 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000                   350,000                   350,000 
PW Maintenance Programs (sidewalks, traffic safety) 65,000 65,000 75,000 75,000 75,000 75,000

Bridge Maintenance 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000                     10,000                     10,000 
Administrative Costs 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000

Sub-total            440,000            440,000            450,000            450,000                   450,000                   450,000 

Debt Service

Remaining Debt Service/ Year 

Retires

Nall Avenue Debt Service (2011A) 2,372,194 877,613
Johnson Drive/Martway Debt Service (2011-1) 490,578
Johnson Drive/Martway Debt Service (2012A) 470,945 473,845 470,870 472,045                   472,316                   471,660 $1,417,078 (2022)

Jo Drive - Street Portion (2013C) 31,767 270,563 271,063 271,463                   266,763                   267,063 $1,073,614 (2023)
Sub-total         3,365,484         1,622,021            741,933            743,508                   739,079                   738,723 

Total Street Expenses 12,983,033     2,246,134       1,948,218       2,082,408       5,149,579               1,288,723               

Ending Balance 737,989          5,315              (37,587)           1,651,652       (1,600,957)              517,319                  

Street Program Plan (2014-2019)

27



2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Revenues
Beginning Balance 750,792          504,419          1,433              (508,104)         (1,090,011)              (1,855,855)              

Local Revenue

Stormwater Utility Fund Revenues 2,100,000       2,125,000       2,125,000       2,125,000                      1,875,000                1,875,000 
Drainage District Revenues 80,000            80,000            80,000            80,000                                80,000                     80,000 

Transfer from General Fund for Debt Service
Gateway Revenues

 Sub-total         2,180,000         2,205,000         2,205,000         2,205,000                1,955,000                1,955,000 

Extenal Revenue

SMAC Revenues
Miscellaneous Revenues

 Sub-total                       -                       -                       -                       -                               -                               - 

Debt Proceeds

 Sub-total                       -                       -                       -                       -                               -                               - 

Total Stormwater Revenues 2,180,000       2,205,000       2,205,000       2,205,000       1,955,000               1,955,000               

Expenses

Capital Projects

 Sub-total 0 0 0 0 0 0

Maintenance Programs

Repair and Maintenance Fund                       -              20,000              50,000              50,000                     50,000                     50,000 
Stormwater Administrative Costs              50,000              50,000              50,000              50,000                     50,000                     50,000 

Miscellaneous Engineering
Stormwater Master Plan: Phase II Study              68,000 

PES - Secondary System at Outlook              35,000 
PES - Secondary System at Horton              35,000 

 Sub-total            118,000              70,000            100,000            170,000                   100,000                   100,000 

Debt Service/Loan Repayment Remaining Debt Service/ Year Retires

KDHE ARRA Loan Repayment                6,562                6,562                6,562                6,562                       6,562                       6,562 $    75,465 (2031)
GO Series 2009A         1,620,048 $7,836,616 (2029)
GO Series 2010A            369,113            367,913            366,613            367,813                   368,738                   369,388 $     364,763 (2020)
GO Series 2010B            279,131            279,131            279,131            279,131                   279,131                   279,131 $8,307,281 (2029)

GO Series 2013C - Stormwater Portion              33,519            283,075            283,375            283,575                   283,675                   283,675 $1,137,225 (2023)
GO Series 2014-A                       -            343,027            324,838            321,838                1,389,838                1,741,438 
GO Series 2014-B                       -         1,358,278         1,354,018         1,357,988                   292,900                               - 

 Sub-total         2,308,373         2,637,986         2,614,537         2,616,907                2,620,844                2,680,194 

Total Stormwater Expenses 2,426,373       2,707,986       2,714,537       2,786,907       2,720,844               2,780,194               

Ending Balance 504,419          1,433              (508,104)         (1,090,011)      (1,855,855)              (2,681,049)              

Stormwater Program Plan (2014-2019)

28



Revenues
Beginning Balance 3,696,342  323,154          83,168       195,550     500,209     936,455                  

Local Revenue

Mowhawk Park Mill Levy (1 mill) 134,400     
 0.375% Parks & Recreation Sales Tax Revenues      736,890           735,000      725,000      725,000      725,000                   725,000 
 0.375% Gateway Parks & Recreation Sales Tax Revenues                  -                       -        61,890      407,959      445,946                   460,991 

 Sub-total      871,290           735,000      786,890   1,132,959   1,170,946                1,185,991 

External Revenue

Special Parks & Recreation Revenues 34,000       42,800            42,800       42,800              42,800                     42,800 
Mission Crossing Development Funds

 Sub-total        34,000             42,800        42,800        42,800 42,800 42,800

Debt Proceeds

 Sub-total                  -                       -                  -                  -                  -                                - 

Total Parks and Recreation Revenues 905,290     777,800          829,690     1,175,759  1,213,746  1,228,791               

Expenses

Capital Projects

Mission Crossing Park 85,000            
Outdoor Pool Construction   3,046,504 

Outdoor Park Improvements Fund        75,000             50,000        50,000        50,000        50,000                     50,000 

Outdoor Pool Improvements/Equipment Replacement  Addition of second slide tower        95,000 

SPJCC Improvements/Equipment Replacement      214,400           220,500        40,350      102,100      101,400                   231,500 

 Roof Repairs/Evaluation        20,000  Dishwashers (2)               2,500  A&B Carpet/Flooring        20,000  Refrigerators        10,000  Small Kaivac          4,000  Seated Rider Scrubber                     16,000 
 Cooling Tower/Chiller      125,000  Refurbish Indoor Water Slide             12,000  Aerobics Room Sound          2,000  A&B Banquet Chairs        13,000  Gym Dividers (2)        20,000  Selectorize/Free Weight Equip                     76,500 
 Conference Center Video        15,000  Wallpaper             20,000  Step Equpiment          4,350  Dance Floor - Conference          3,000  Star Track Spinner Bikes (1/2)        10,400  Large Kaivac                        7,000 
 Adult Lounge Furniture          2,000  Conference Center Carpet             25,000  Pool Vacuums          6,000  6' Rectangular Tables          8,200  Pool Pak Replacement        65,000  Adult Lounge Furniture                        2,000 

 Star Track Spinner Bikes (1/2)        10,400  Flat Panel TVs               5,000  Gymnastic Mats          6,500  Round Tables (42)          7,500  Meeting Room Sound System          2,000  Pool Pak Replacement                     65,000 

 Natatorium Painting        10,000  Large Kaivac               7,000  Stoves (2)          1,500  Star Track Spinner Bikes (1/2)        10,400  Locker Room Flooring                     40,000 
 Refurbish Basketball Goals        12,000  Steam Room Re-tiling             10,000  Pool Resurfacing        50,000  Elevator Replacement                     25,000 
 Seated Rider Scrubber        16,000  Waterline Main Repairs             50,000 
 Small Kaivac          4,000  Hot Tub retile             17,000 

 MTX Equipment             52,000 
 Recedar Sauna             20,000 

 Sub-total   3,335,904           355,500        90,350      247,100      151,400                   281,500 

Maintenance/Operations

Parks Master Plan        70,000 
Facility Reserve Funds (SPJCC/Outdoor Aquatic Facility)        40,000             50,000        50,000        50,000        50,000                     50,000 

Transfer to General Fund for Operations      100,000             25,000 
 Sub-total      210,000             75,000        50,000        50,000        50,000                     50,000 

Debt Service/Lease Payments

Remaining Debt Service/ Year 

Retires

Mohawk Park Debt Service (2004-A) 144,900
Outdoor Aquatic Facility Debt Service (2013B) 530,038     529,650          526,450     529,000          531,100                   527,250 $2,120,000 (2023)

Cardio Equipment Lease        43,380             43,380        43,380        45,000        45,000                     45,000 on-going lease
HVAC Controller Lease        14,256             14,256          7,128 

 Sub-total      732,574           587,286      576,958      574,000      576,100                   572,250 

Total Parks & Recreation Expenses 4,278,478 1,017,786 717,308 871,100 777,500 903,750

Ending Balance 323,154     83,168            195,550     500,209     936,455     1,261,496               

Parks & Recreation Program Plan (2014-2019)
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

29



 

City of Mission Item Number: 6e. 

ACTION ITEM SUMMARY Date: 8-6-2014 

Public Works From: John Belger 

Action items require a vote to recommend the item to full City Council for further action. 

 

RE: Johnson Drive Streetlights 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Request that Overland Park (as project administrator) authorize a change 

order to the Johnson Drive construction contract with VF Anderson to include the purchase and installation 
of decorative streetlights. 

 
DETAILS: In August 2012, the City Council passed Resolution No. 864 which established the Johnson 

Drive Design Concept for improvements between Nall Avenue to just west of Lamar Avenue.  The 
resolution stated that pedestrian and other non-vehicular infrastructure, including decorative streetlights, 
was a focal point of all transportation improvement projects undertaken by the City of Mission.  
 
Lumec streetlights, similar to those further east on Johnson Drive, were initially specified for this corridor. 
During the design phase,a budget of $350,000 was established for the streetlights.  The Lumec lights are 
manufactured in Canada, and did not meet the “Buy America” requirement for federal aid projects, so they 
were excluded from the original construction bid. 
 
Over the last several months, we coordinated a competitive bid process for the decorative streetlights. 
Bids were opened on June 9th, with the low bid coming from Sosaya and Sons in the amount of 
$796,936.50.  Bids are included in the table below. 
 

Bidder Amount 

Total Electric $799,646.10 

Teague Electric $899,082.00 

Sosaya and Sons $796,936.50 

Capital Electric $839,728.45 

 
In order to find a financially feasible solution, staff has worked extensively with Olsson to come up with an 
alternate streetlight.  A light, manufactured by Hapco (an American supplier) has been evaluated and is 
recommended for inclusion in the project.  Since the proposed Hapco streetlights meet the “Buy America” 
requirements, they could be change ordered into the current construction contract, and would become 
eligible for CARS funding (50/50 match).  This brings the streetlight portion of the project within the existing 
budget budget.  Drawings of the proposed streetlights have been included in the packet.  
 
Olsson’s Engineer’s Estimate for the Hapco streetlights is $474,212.  This would provide a HPS (High 
Pressure Sodium) fixture, similar to the current decorative lights installed in other locations throughout the 
City.  An option to upgrade to LED fixtures has also been included.  This upgrade would increase the cost 
of the lighting by $18,938, bringing the total to $493,150.  The increased up-front expenditure for the LED 
fixtures is estimated to be recovered within three years through electricity savings.  The Engineer’s 
Estimate has been included in the packet. 

 
Information on the alternate poles has been forwarded to the Contractor for final pricing.  Final costs will 
be available before the meeting. 

 

Related Statute/City Ordinance: Resolution No. 864 

Line Item Code/Description: 25-90-805-60 

Available Budget: $350,000 (City Funds) + remaining CARS funds 

 

















 

City of Mission Item Number: 6f. 

ACTION ITEM SUMMARY Date: July 30, 2014 

Community Development & 
Neighborhood Services  

From: Martin Rivarola 

Action items require a vote to recommend the item to full City Council for further action. 

 

RE: Grant opportunity for Turkey Creek Trail design. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Provide direction to  Staff regarding the submission of an application 
for a “Planning Sustainable Places” grant for initial design and related work for the Turkey 
Creek Trail project. 
 
DETAILS: The City of Mission recently submitted applications to the Mid-America Regional            
Council (MARC) for TAP & STP funding for construction of the Turkey Creek Trail Project.               
During the City’s budget and Community Investment Program (CIP) discussions, the City Council             
removed the project from the City’s 5-year CIP. Staff accordingly withdrew the City’s applications              
for construction funding. 
 
Typically, grant funding for projects of this nature can only be used for construction or inspection                
costs, not for initial design. However, MARC is now accepting applications for the 2014              
Planning Sustainable Places (PSP) program. This program helps fund transportation-focused          
planning and projects for local activity centers and small areas, and positions projects to move               
from planning to implementation. A total of $1 million of funding is available for “livable community                
development.”  
 
Under this program, funds can be awarded for “Transportation Implementation Activities,”           
including project development, preliminary engineering and design, right-of-way preparation, etc.          
Staff estimates that these costs to be approximately $205,000 of the $2.35 million dollars              
believed necessary to construct the city’s portion of the Turkey Creek Trail. 
 
In our previous experience, there are few grants available to fund initial design work. This grant                
program presents an unique opportunity to leverage additional money towards completing this            
project.  By pursuing initial design, geotechnical, and ROW acquisition work now, the City can: 
 

● Reduce the local costs necessary to complete the project 
● Provide a more accurate cost estimate and timeline for financial planning 
● Provide a detailed estimate of extent and costs of right-of-way needs  
● Improve the likelihood that the project can attract future federal and state grant support. 

 
If the City is indeed interested in constructing our portion of the Turkey Creek Trail, either in the                  
short or long-term, we should maintain this project as high-priority both in the City’s              
Comprehensive Plan and our CIP. During our budget discussions, the Council suggested that if              
additional opportunities for outside funding for the trail were available, staff should present those              
before making specific application.  
 
For these reasons, Staff proposes to apply for $130,000 of initial design work, including              

 

Related Statute/City Ordinance: N/A 

Line Item Code/Description: Parks & Recreation Sales Tax Fund 

Available Budget: Ci  

 

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.marc.org%2FRegional-Planning%2FCreating-Sustainable-Places%2FPlanning-sustainable-Places%2FBackground&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNGKtvnSKmzVA8UdFejUqvGgsxuz8g


 

City of Mission Item Number: 6f. 

ACTION ITEM SUMMARY Date: July 30, 2014 

Community Development & 
Neighborhood Services  

From: Martin Rivarola 

Action items require a vote to recommend the item to full City Council for further action. 

 

geotechnical work, surveying and preliminary design, with a committed local match of 30%.             
Design would occur in 2015. If awarded, the total federal grant would total $91,000, with a local                 
city match of $39,000. The City’s match is recommended to come from the Parks & Recreation                
Sales tax funds. The 2015 Budget indicates a fund balance of approximately $83,168 in this               
fund. Deadline for applications is August 27th. If Staff is directed to submit the application, Staff                
will finalize that process, and keep the City Council updated on the progress.  
 
Note: Background information on the trail corridor, including a presentation from 2009 from the              
“Turkey Creek Trail Coalition” has been provided in your packet. This presentation includes             
maps, pictures and other information about the Turkey Creek Trail.  
 

 
 

 

 

Related Statute/City Ordinance: N/A 

Line Item Code/Description: Parks & Recreation Sales Tax Fund 

Available Budget: Ci  

 



New round of Planning Sustainable Places funding 
The Mid-America Regional Council is pleased to announce the 2014 

Planning Sustainable Places (PSP) program to fund planning projects that 

help advance sustainable development objectives. 

www.marc2.org/tr-psp/

The program will help fund transportation-focused planning and projects 

that advance detailed local activity center plans, small area plans and 

support implementation activities. Funds awarded will help support and 

position projects to move from planning to implementation.

The PSP program continues the work of the Creating Sustainable Places 

initiative and the region’s long-range plan, Transportation Outlook 2040, 

promoting concepts consistent with sustainable communities and the 

advancement of site-specific and project-specific activities within the 

centers-and-corridors planning framework. 

This round of funding builds on previous ground rules for the competitive 

regional solicitation, including:

•	 Categories — Applications must be categorized as either (1) sustainable 

places plans or (2) implementation activities.

•	 Program emphasis — All projects must emphasize transportation and  

may include integrating intermodal transportation options,  

redevelopment and sustainable land-use patterns, social equity and 

environmental stewardship through targeted planning, and meaningful 

public engagement.

•	 Projects require a minimum 20 percent local match.

•	 The maximum grant award is $120,000. There is no minimum grant  

award amount.

•	 Jurisdictions (cities, counties, and states) and transportation agencies 

located within MARC’s metropolitan planning boundary — Johnson, 

Leavenworth, Miami and Wyandotte counties in Kansas, and Cass, Clay, 

Jackson and Platte counties in Missouri — are eligible to apply. Priority 

status will be given to planning projects conducted in activity centers 

within the region’s redevelopment area1 and areas that include multiple 

opportunities for sustainable development. 

•	 Work should begin in early 2015 and be completed in the first quarter  

of 2016.

1 of 2



Project schedule

Date Activity

June 25, 2014 Call for projects opens

July 24, 2014 Call for projects pre-application 

workshop at 1 p.m., MARC 

Conference Center in the Board 

Room

August 27, 2014 Project submission deadline at  

4 p.m. CDT

September–October 2014 MARC staff technical analysis and 

scoring

September–November 2014 PSP Task Force evaluation and 

prioritization

November–December 2014 TTPC and MARC Board approval

For more information, contact Beth Dawson at

bdawson@marc.org or 816-701-8325.

1  For more information defining our region’s redevelopment area, 

visit http://ow.ly/ys8ap or refer to the 2014 Call for Planning and 

Demonstration Projects Submission Guidebook at www.marc2.org/

tr-psp/.

600 Broadway, Suite 200 

Kansas City, MO 64105-1659

Ph: 816/474-4240 • Fax: 816/421-7758

marc.org

Available funding totals $1 million:

•	 $500,000 — Missouri Surface Transportation Program Livable 

Communities Pilot Planning Program (FFY 2015)

•	 $500,000 — Kansas Surface Transportation Program Livable 

Communities Pilot Planning Program (FFY 2015)



metrogreenTURKEY CREEK
Streamway Corridor

two states.
seven counties.
one regional greenway system.

KANSAS
MISSOURI

KANSAS CITY REGION

Platte 
County

Leavenworth 
County

Wyandotte 
County

Clay 
County

Ray 
County

Jackson 
County

Cass 
County

Miami 
County

Johnson 
County

AREA OF DETAIL

mid-america regional council   •  816 /  474-4240  •  www.marc.org/metrogreen

LOCATION:

•   Located in northern Johnson County, Kansas
•   Spans into southern Wyandotte County, Kansas
•   Watershed basin covers roughly 23 square miles 
      in these two counties
•   Corridor runs parallel to I-35 and extends into 
      Jackson County, Missouri.

JURISDICTIONS:

•  Johnson County
•  Merriam
•  Mission
•  Overland Park
•  Roeland Park
•  Unified Government of 
    Wyandotte County/Kansas City, Kansas

LENGTH:

•  Corridor is approximately 10 miles long.

POINTS OF INTEREST:

•  Merriam Marketplace
•  Nall Park
•  Rosedale Park
•  Streamway Park
•  Waterfall Park
•  Rosedale Memorial Arch

Legend
POI (point of interest

Trail (existing)

Trail (planned or proposed)

Creek

1/4 Mile Buffer

Counties

Cities



TURKEY CREEK

ABOUT METRO GREEN®

MetroGreen® is an interconnected system of public and 

private natural areas, greenways and trails linking together 

communities throughout the Kansas City metropolitan area. 

The plan covers Leavenworth, Johnson and Wyandotte 

counties in Kansas and Cass, Clay, Jackson and Platte 

counties in Missouri. 

Benefits of MetroGreen include cost-effective improvement 

of air and water quality; stabilization of streams; reduction 

of flood risks; protection of wildlife habitat; opportunities 

for biking, hiking and walking; and ultimately, the formation 

of a framework around which more sustainable urban 

development patterns can occur. 

metrogreen

CURRENT STATUS:

•   Johnson County – Turkey Creek is designated as a component of the Streamway Park                  

       system through the cities of Merriam, Overland Park and Mission.

•   Merriam – Completed nearly four miles of trail; identified MetroGreen trails system in             

       the city’s comprehensive plan.

•   Mission – Identified Turkey Creek as a future trail corridor in the city’s comprehensive plan;   

       began requiring right-of-way or easement dedications on properties abutting Turkey Creek.

•   Overland Park – Developed preliminary engineering designs and is currently seeking funding.

•   Roeland Park – Identified a connection to the MetroGreen trail system via Nall Park.

•   Wyandotte County – Currently planning a 1-mile segment as part of a U.S. Army Corps                 

       of Engineers watershed restoration plan; MetroGreen trails system is included in the Unified   

       Goverment’s comprehensive plan.

FUNDING STATUS:

Total estimated cost to complete the entire corridor is around $5.5 million.

At heart, MetroGreen:

•   Protects natural resources

•   Restores high-value    
      natural areas

•   Connects people to these   
      resources and to each other

July 2009

martin
Highlight

martin
Text Box
Completed

martin
Highlight

martin
Text Box
On-Street Bike Lanes and Enhanced Sidewalks being constructed on Merriam Lane and Southwest Blvd.



Feasibility Study

Turkey Creek Corridor Overview

History
Watershed
Corridor Inventory
Coalition
Corridor Plan
Current Status
Benefits
Funding



Turkey Creek History
Kansas and Missouri River confluence –“Kawsmouth”
Inhabited by Paleo-Indians over 12,000 years ago
Wet-mesic bottomland forest and tall grass prairie
Settled by Euro-American explorers and traders
Named “Turkey Creek” for wild turkeys in the area

Turkey Creek Historic Landmarks
Anthony Sauer Castle (1871-72)
Old Rosedale City Hall & Fire Station No. 1 (1912)
Rosedale WWI Memorial Arch (1923-24)



Watershed History
Surveyed in 1833 by Isaac McCoy
Burlington Northern RR-1860’s
Disastrous flooding in 1919
Tunnel constructed in 1920
Highway construction-1940’s
Plaza Flood in 1977

Watershed Planning

COE Flood Study 1987
• Environmental degradation
• Natural resource inventory

COE Watershed Plan 2007
• Urban ecosystem restoration
• Habitat conservation
• Recreation and trails



Environmental Enhancement Area

COE Project
Riparian Corridor 
Restoration
Habitat Conservation
Native Plantings
Trails
Recreation

Turkey Creek Corridor

martin
Pencil

martin
Text Box
Completed

martin
Pencil

martin
Pencil

martin
Text Box
Bike/Ped Improvements Under Way



Merriam – Market Trail Head

Merriam – Turkey Creek 



Merriam – Turkey Creek Trail

Merriam – Waterfall Park



Overland Park- I-35/Antioch 

Overland Park – I-35 Corridor

martin
Text Box
Completed in 2013 & 2014



Overland Park – Turkey Creek  

Overland Park – Metcalf/I-35

martin
Text Box
Completed in 2013 & 2014

martin
Text Box
Completed in 2013 & 2014



Mission – Former road bedMi i F d b d

Mission – Hotel overlook

martin
Text Box
Pending

martin
Text Box
Pending



Mission – Adjacent to I-35

Kansas City, KS – Industrial Park

martin
Text Box
Pending

martin
Text Box
Pending



Kansas City, KS – I-35/21st St.K Ci KS I / st S

Kansas City, KS – 21st St. RR

martin
Text Box
Pending



Kansas City, KS – 21st St. Bridge

Kansas City, KS – View from bridge



Kansas City, KS – Merriam LaneK Ci KS M i L

Kansas City, KS – Turkey Creek

martin
Text Box
Under Construction



Kansas City, KS – Near Drive-In

Kansas City, KS – Turkey Creek

martin
Text Box
Under Construction



Kansas City, KS – Drive-In

Kansas City, KS – RR Bridge 

martin
Text Box
Under Construction



Kansas City, KS – Drive-InKansas City KS Drive In

Kansas City, KS – Lake AveK Ci KS L k A

martin
Text Box
Under Construction



Kansas City, KS – Mill St

Kansas City, KS – Turkey Creek

martin
Text Box
Under Construction



Kansas City, KS – Mill Bridge/I-35

Kansas City, KS – View from bridge



Kansas City, KS – I-35 on ramp

Kansas City, KS – Merriam/SW Blvd



Kansas City, KS – Division St

Kansas City, KS – 1-35/Mission St



Kansas City, KS – Former I-35 ramp

Turkey Creek Coalition
Merriam
Mission
Overland Park
Roeland Park
Johnson County 
Unified Government of 
Wyandotte Co.
Mid-America Regional 
Council

Representative Ronnie 
Metsker’s Office
Representative Dennis 
Moore’s Office
US Army Corps of 
Engineers
Kansas Department of 
Transportation



Future Corridor Plan

Corridor Connections



Benefits of Greenways and Trails
Health
Transportation
Conservation/Environment
Economy/Revitalization
Historic Preservation
Livability
Community Identity

Watershed 
Management

Natural 
Landmarks

Historic 
Landmarks

Strong Social 
Ties
ng Social 
Ties

Economic 
Revitalization

mic onom
zationaliz

Environmental 
Protection

Community 
Landmarks

rarararaaararrr l lll lll
maaaaaaamaamamaaamamaamamaamaamaaaamaaamaamamaaam krkrkrkrkrkrkrkrkrkkrkrkrkrkrkrkrkrkrkrkkrkkrkkrkrkrkrrrrrrrrrr sssssssssssssssBetter Public 

Health

NaNaNaNaNaNaNaNaNaaNaNaNaNaNaNaNaNaNaNaNaaNaNaNaaNaNaaNaNaNaNaNaNaNaNaNaNaNaNaNaNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN tututututututututtttttttttttttt rrrrrrr
LaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaaLaLaLaLaaLaaLaLaLaaLaLaLaLaLaLaLaLLLaLLaLaLaLLaLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL ndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndndnddndndddndndnddndndndndndndddddddndndndndndddndnnnn mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmublic

th

Transportation 
ChoiceWWaWaWaWaaaWaWaWaWaWaaaWaWaWaWaaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaaaaWaWaWaWaaaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaaaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaaWaWaWaWaaaaWaaaWaaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaaWaWaWaaWaWaWaaWaWaWaWaWaWaaWaaaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaaWaWaaWaWaWaWaWaWaaaaWaWaWaWaaaWaaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaWaWWaWaWaWaWaWWWWaWaWaWaWaWaWWWWaWaWaWaWaWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW ttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttt

MaMaMaMaMaaaaMaMaMaaaaaaaaaMaaaaMaMaMaaaaaaaaaaMaMaaMaMaMaMaMaaaaaMaMaMaMaaaaaaMaaaaaaMaMaMaaaaaMaaMaMaaaaaaMaMaMaMaMaMaMaaaMaMaMaMaMaaaMaMaaMaMaaMaaaMaMaMaMaMaMaMaaMaaaaaaaaaaMaaaMaaMaMaMaaaaaMaaMaaaMaMaMaaMaMaMaaMaMaMaMaaaaaaMaMaMaaMaaMaMMaMaMaaaMaaaMaMaaMaMaMaMaaaaaaaaMaaMaMaMaMaaaaaaMaMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMM nanaaaaaanaaaaananaaaaanaanaanaaaanaaaanananananaaaaanaaaaaaaananananaaaaaananaaaaaaanaaaaanaaaaannnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn

mmunity 
ndmarks

ssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssheheheheheheheheeheheheheheheheheeeeeheheheheheheheeheeheheheheheheheheheheheheheheeheheeheheheheheheheeeheheeheheheheheeheeeeheheeeeeeeheeheeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeheeheheeeeeeeeheheheeeeeeeeheeeeeeheheheeheeeeeeheheheheeeeheheheeheheheeheheheheheheeheeheheheheheheehheheheheehehehehheheheheheeeheheheheheheheheheheheehehhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhh dd ddddddddddddddddd dddddddddddd ddddddddd dddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddd
eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeemeememememememememememeememeeemeemememememememememeemeemememememeeemememememememeemeeemeememememeeememeememememememeememeeememeememeeeememeememeeemememeemememememeeeeememeeememeemememememeememeemeeeeeeeemeemememeemeeemeeeeeemememememeeemeeeeeeeeeemememeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeemememeeeeeeeeeeeeeeemeemememeeeeeeeeeememememeeeeemeeeememeeememememmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmm ntntntntntntntntntntntntntttnttnttntnttntntntttnttntttntntntntntntnttntntntntntnttnttntntntnttntttntnttntttttntntntttntttntttttntntttntntnttntntntnttttntntntntntntntttntntttnttnttnttntntntntntntntnttnttnttnttnttntttntntntnttntntttntntnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn

eeeeeeteeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeteteteteeteeeeeeeeteeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeteeteeteeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeteeeeeeeteeteeteteeeeeeeteeteeteeeeeeteeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeteeetteeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeettttttttt sssrsrrsssrsrssssssssssssrsssssssrsssssrsrsrssssrsssssrssrsssrssrrssssssrsssrssrsrsssssssssrssssrsssrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr
aaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaa eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeegeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeegeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeegeeegegegeegeeegeeeeeegegeegeegeegeeeeeeeegegegegegegegegegeeggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggg

Bette
He
er Pu
ealt

Natural Landmarks

Land Use

Benefits of 
Greenways and 
Trails



Economic Benefits
Creates trail-related jobs
Expands existing businesses related to travel, 
equipment, clothes, food, souvenirs and maps
Decreases costs associated with water and air pollution 
and flood management
Preserves linear space for future infrastructure needs
Increases quality of life in the community
Attracts new residents and businesses

Environmental Benefits
Conserves habitat for wildlife
Restores watersheds
Preserves natural resources
Improves water/air quality
Provides flood mitigation
Promotes eco-tourism


	CC Agenda 8-20-14 - Google Docs
	PC Minutes 7-28-14
	AI-Martway Office Plat Case 14-08 - Google Docs
	Staff Report Prelim & Final Plat 14-08 - Google Docs
	Martway Office Final Plat 7.22.14
	AI_2015 Budget Resolution - Google Docs
	2015 Budget Resolution_Financial Policies - Google Docs
	Recommended Budget 8_6_2014 (1)
	Cover
	Org Chart
	Council
	CommunityDialogueHandout-2015Budget
	Budget divider
	Gen Fund
	Bond & Interest
	Solid Waste
	Spec Alcohol
	MCVB
	Stormwater
	RC #1
	RC #2
	Spec Hwy
	Street Sales Tax
	Transportation
	CIP
	P&R Sales Tax
	Spec Parks
	CIP divider
	CIP 2015-2019 - working draft

	2015-2019 CIP Resolution - Google Docs
	Recommended 2015-2019 CIP 8_6_14 (1)
	Cover
	Org Chart
	Council
	CommunityDialogueHandout-2015Budget
	Budget divider
	Gen Fund
	Bond & Interest
	Solid Waste
	Spec Alcohol
	MCVB
	Stormwater
	RC #1
	RC #2
	Spec Hwy
	Street Sales Tax
	Transportation
	CIP
	P&R Sales Tax
	Spec Parks
	CIP divider
	CIP 2015-2019 - working draft

	AI - Johnson Drive Streetlights - Google Docs
	JD Streetlight- Engineer's Estimate (1)
	16' Pole with Single Arm (1)
	40' Pole with Single Arm (1)
	40' Pole with Twin Arms (1)
	Sentry_Bishops Crook (1)
	Lumec Pole Detail
	AI - PSP Grant for Initial Design Turkey Creek Trail - Google Docs
	1-PSP_CallforProject_FactSheet (1)
	2-Turkey Creek Corridor_3_Jan09v4 (1)



